STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Cherokee County

Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 2021-UP-204 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed June 9, 2021)

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ALLEN CHARRON WILLIAMS, JR.

PETITIONER.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000123

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

Jul 29 2021

SC Court of Appeals

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err in finding unpreserved petitioner's argument that the trial court erred by denying his motion for directed verdict where the state failed to introduce substantial circumstantial evidence showing he was the shooter because petitioner's argument on appeal encompasses the argument made at trial, that the state failed to put forth evidence of all of the elements of attempted murder?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Procedural history

On November 16, 2017, a Cherokee County grand jury indicted petitioner for three counts of attempted murder and three counts of possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime. R. 147.

Petitioner's case was called to trial on January 15, 2019, before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly and a jury. R. 1. Travis Moore represented petitioner. R. 1. Assistant solicitor George Kendell and assistant solicitor Kimberly Leskanic represented the state. R. 1.

On January 16, 2019, the jury found petitioner guilty of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, two counts of first-degree assault and battery, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 137-38. Judge Kelly sentenced petitioner to twenty years' and two five-year terms of imprisonment to run consecutively and a concurrent term of five years' imprisonment. R. 145-46; R. 149.

The Court of Appeals affirmed petitioner's convictions in *State v. Williams*, 2019-UP-204 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 9, 2021). Petitioner sought rehearing which was denied on June 29, 2021.¹

This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

Introduction

One evening, two young men, Caleb and Wesley, and their stepfather were driving their truck around a neighborhood. Caleb rode in the bed of the truck, and Wesley and their stepfather rode in the cab. R. 13, ll. 3-23; R. 26, l. 8-R. 27, l. 15. They drove around the same loop

¹ Pursuant to the Supreme Court's amended order RE: Operation of the Appellate Courts During the Coronavirus Emergency (As Amended May 29, 2020), subsection (e), an appendix containing the above referenced documents has not been e-filed with this petition because that requirement has been suspended.

multiple times until a woman, out on her porch, yelled at them, “why [do] y’all keep driving by.” They stopped the truck, and shortly after a shot was fired at the truck, injuring Caleb. R. 17, ll. 10-14; R. 29, l. 12-R. 30 l. 2. When police arrived, petitioner’s neighbor, Sierra Mckinney, and her sister, Christa Hall, told police they saw petitioner with a gun at some point before hearing the gunshot. R. 40, l. 22-R. 43, l. 17; R. 65, ll. 8-11. Petitioner was detained, his hands were tested for gunshot residue (GSR), and his residence and the surrounding area were searched. R. 80, ll. 5-9; R. 85, ll. 1-18. The results of the GSR kit showed a single particle of GSR on petitioner’s left palm. No physical evidence related to the shooting was found during the search of petitioner’s home or the surrounding area. R. 85, ll. 2-9; R. 90, l. 18-R. 91, l. 11; R. 115, ll. 13-21; R. 117, ll. 1-25; R. 122, l. 11-R. 123, l. 16; R. 126, ll. 11-20. Petitioner was indicted on three counts of attempted murder and three counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 147.

Relevant facts

At trial, Caleb and Wesley testified a woman yelled at them from a porch and neither saw who fired the gun. R. 17, ll. 10-14; R. 21, ll. 12-25; R. 22, l. 18-R. 23, l. 3. Wesley claimed he saw a man right before the truck turned on the street where the shot was fired but he did not see a gun. R. 32, ll. 3-5. Sierra testified she was out on her porch that evening with Christa and they were concerned because the truck drove by multiple times. R. 39, l. 18-R. 40, l. 13. Sierra admitted they called out to the truck, “what are you doing.” R. 49, ll. 3-10. Sierra and Christa claimed they saw petitioner acting “aggravated.” R. 40, l. 22-83, l. 9; R. 63, ll. 21-25. Both women allegedly saw petitioner carrying a gun before they heard a gunshot, but neither could recall exactly how much time passed between seeing petitioner and hearing the gunshot. R. 41, l. 22-R. 43, l. 22; R. 52, l. 12-R. 53, l. 9. On direct, Sierra seemed unsure about the timeline of

events. She first testified that she saw petitioner with a gun ten or fifteen minutes before she heard a gunshot. Sierra later said it may have been less than ten or fifteen minutes. R. 43, ll. 14-17. Then, on cross-examination, Sierra admitted she did not remember much of what happened that night. R. 53, ll. 6-13. On direct, Christa claimed she saw petitioner run off with a gun seconds before hearing a gunshot. R. 67, ll. 6-17. During cross-examination, Christa grudgingly admitted she told police she saw petitioner walk away before hearing the gunshot. R. 73, l. 18-R. 74, l. 16.

No one testified that they saw petitioner shoot at the truck. R. 52, ll. 6-7; R. 72, ll. 6-7. The results from the GSR kit administered on petitioner revealed a single particle on his left palm, which the SLED (South Carolina Law Enforcement Division) expert admitted could have been the product of transfer. R. 115, ll. 13-21; R. 117, ll. 1-25; R. 122, l. 11-R. 123, l. 16; R. 126, ll. 11-20. Police did not find a gun, shells, or any other physical evidence of the shooting during their search of petitioner's residence or the surrounding area. R. 85, ll. 2-9; R. 90, l. 18-R. 91, l. 11.

Petitioner made a motion for directed verdict as to all three counts of attempted murder, asserting that there was no evidence presented by the state to satisfy an element of the crime. Specifically, petitioner argued the state did not put forth evidence that showed "the defendant had the specific intent to murder" anyone and that there was no testimony or evidence regarding two of the alleged victim's injuries. R. 133, ll. 1-20. The court denied the motion. R. 186, ll. 2-7.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in finding unpreserved petitioner's argument that the trial court erred by denying his motion for directed verdict where the state failed to introduce substantial circumstantial evidence showing he was the shooter because petitioner's argument on appeal encompasses the argument made at trial, that the state failed to put forth evidence of all of the elements of attempted murder.

Preservation

The Court of Appeals cited *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-694 (2003) for the proposition that “[i]n order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial [court].” Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal. Additionally, the court cited *Dunbar* for the proposition “a party need not use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, but it must be clear that the argument has been presented on that ground” and “a party may not argue one ground at trial and an alternate ground on appeal.” *State v. Williams*, 2019-UP-204 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 9, 2021).

“Imposing ... preservation requirement[s] on the appellant is meant to enable the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). “Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [the appellate court] with a platform for meaningful appellate review.” *Queen’s Grant II Horizontal Prop. Regime v. Greenwood Dev. Corp.*, 368 S.C. 342, 373, 628 S.E.2d 902, 919 (Ct. App. 2006). “The requirement also serves as a keen incentive for a party to prepare a case thoroughly. It prevents a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve – intentionally or by

chance – in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case.” Toal, Walker, Baker, Appellate Practice in South Carolina (2016) 184.

“There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. ... In order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the lower court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the lower court with sufficient specificity.” *Id.* at 184. The issue on appeal is whether the trial court erred as a matter of law in denying appellant’s motion for directed verdict. The record demonstrates this issue was raised by petitioner and ruled upon by the trial judge. While petitioner could have better articulated the basis for his motion at trial, he made a motion for a directed verdict and the motion was erroneously denied. *See State v. Hepburn*, 406 S.C. 416, 429, 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013) (stating if the state fails to present any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove guilt of the accused, the appellate court must reverse the lower court’s denial of the directed verdict motion).

It is true petitioner did not use the specific phrase “substantial circumstantial evidence” in his motion for a directed verdict. However, he did argue there was insufficient evidence to support one of the elements of the charge of attempted murder. *See State v. James*, 362 S.C. 557, 562-63, 608 S.E.2d 455, 457-58 (Ct. App. 2004); *State v. Russell*, 345 S.C. 128, 132, 546 S.E.2d 202, 204 (Ct. App. 2001) (holding argument that defendant was entitled to a directed verdict on the ground that state failed to establish the *corpus delicti* of DUI was preserved even though the defendant did not use the exact words where the ground for the motion was apparent from a review of the record).

Petitioner's argument on appeal that there was insubstantial circumstantial evidence showing he was the shooter where he was charged with attempted murder includes the argument made at trial, that the state did not put forth any evidence that petitioner had the specific intent to murder the alleged victims. Specific intent is an element of attempted murder, and the state's failure to put forth evidence of that element, any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence, should have resulted in a directed verdict in favor of petitioner.

Merits

At trial, the state offered scant circumstantial evidence that petitioner was the perpetrator of this crime. The evidence showed petitioner was present, in the neighborhood where he lived, at the time the incident occurred, and petitioner was seen with a gun at some point before the gunshot was heard. However, the evidence did not show who shot at the truck that night.

In *State v. Mitchell*, 341 S.C. 134, 535 S.E.2d 126 (2000), the South Carolina Supreme Court held the lower court erred in failing to direct a verdict where the only evidence presented against defendant was his fingerprint at the scene of the burglary. Similarly, in *State v. Lollis*, 343 S.C. 580, 541 S.E.2d 254 (2001), the South Carolina Supreme Court directed a verdict of acquittal in defendant's favor where the state presented no direct evidence that defendant was involved in setting fire to his home. The circumstantial evidence against defendant was that his wife admitted to the arson, defendant had placed valuables in storage prior to the fire, defendant possessed a key to the storage unit, and defendant allegedly had financial troubles. In that case the court found the evidence insufficient. *Lollis*, at 585, 541 S.E.2d at 257.

In *State v. Martin*, 340 S.C. 597, 533 S.E.2d 572 (2000), the South Carolina Supreme Court directed a verdict of acquittal in defendant's favor where the state failed to meet the "any substantial evidence" standard. In that case, the state presented evidence that a car resembling

the one defendant was driving was seen parked at the victim's apartment complex on the night of the murder. *Martin*, at 600, 533 S.E.2d at 573. The state also presented evidence defendant and co-defendant were late picking up defendant's girlfriend from work and when his girlfriend asked why they were late defendant replied, "some shit happened" and co-defendant added "somebody may have died tonight." *Id.*

In *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C 582, 720 S.E.2d 48 (2012), the South Carolina Supreme Court held defendant was entitled to a directed verdict based upon a lack of substantial circumstantial evidence that defendant was involved in the burglary. Although defendant was in a car with other individuals who admittedly burglarized a home, the state failed to provide substantial circumstantial evidence that defendant was present during the home invasion. The witness who saw individuals at the home claimed she saw two, not three as were found in the car. *Odems*, at 584, 720 S.E.2d at 49. Fingerprints collected from the stolen goods did not match defendant's but matched the other individuals in the car. *Id.* at 588, 720 S.E.2d at 51. One of the individuals who admitted his involvement claimed defendant was picked up after the burglary at a gas station. *Id.*

In *State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 141, 708 S.E.2d 774, 778 (2011), the South Carolina Supreme Court held the state failed to present substantial circumstantial evidence of defendant's guilt. Rather, the state's evidence could produce only a suspicion of defendant's guilt. *Id.* Although the police found items belonging to the victim in a burn pile behind the home of defendant's mother, the court held no evidence linked defendant to the evidence in the burn pile and the prosecution presented no testimony that defendant had control over the burn pile. *Id.* at 137-141, 708 S.E.2d at 775-778. The only other evidence presented against defendant was that he had a chemical pattern that matched gasoline on his shoes and gasoline was used to start the

fire at the victim's home, and DNA from blood on defendant's jeans excluded ninety-nine percent of the population, but the expert could not testify the DNA matched the victim. *Id.* at 142, 708 S.E.2d at 778.

The case at bar has less circumstantial evidence than the cases mentioned above where the Court found the lower court should have directed a verdict in defendants' favor. In *Martin*, there was evidence presented that could be construed as an admission of guilt, as well as a car matching the description of the car defendant was driving seen at victim's apartment on the night of the murder. *Martin*, at 600, 533 S.E.2d at 573. In *Bostick*, the victim's belongings were found in a burn pile behind defendant's mother's home and defendant had blood on his jeans.

Here, when the state closed its case, only the following pieces of circumstantial evidence had been presented, Sierra and Christa claimed they saw petitioner with a gun and one particle of GSR was found on petitioner's hand.

Conversely, the state offered no evidence that anyone saw petitioner shoot at the truck and police did not find a gun or shells during their search of petitioner's home or the surrounding area. Certainly, petitioner was in the area at the time of the incident but so were the two neighborhood witnesses that testified at trial. Police did no investigation into either Sierra or Christa, who claim they saw petitioner with a gun before the gunshot. Sierra and Christa are the same individuals Caleb and Wesley heard yelling at them right before their truck was shot at. Christa gave a written statement the night of the incident and then changed it when she testified at trial. Additionally, police did not search Sierra's residence where she, admittedly, had guns, and police did not perform GSR testing on anyone other than petitioner. R. 53, l. 20-R. 54, l. 4.

Perhaps, had there been additional investigation into the incident, more would be known about exactly what happened that night. All that is known is Sierra and Christa were out on the