STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Cherokee County
The Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge
Court of Appeals Appellate Case No. 2019-000123
Op. No. 2021-UP-204

Appellate Case No. 2021-000806

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Allen Charron Williams, Jr.,

Petitioner.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF
CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

Barry J. Barnette
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street, 3rd Floor
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

STATEMENT OF QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals properly conclude Petitioner failed to preserve the issue raised on appeal because he raised a different issue in the circuit court?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 16, 2017, the Cherokee County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner Allen Charron Williams, Jr., on three counts of attempted murder, and three counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime of violence, in connection with a shooting incident on May 9, 2017. The matter was called for a jury trial on January 15, 2019, before the Honorable R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge.

Victim 1 (“Caleb”)¹ testified he was working on a truck with his brother and stepfather on May 9, 2017, and they started driving the truck around their neighborhood to burn off some gas in it. Caleb was riding in the truck bed. While they were riding around, they drive down Evans Street approximately four times. Caleb stated there were no cars driving on the road, and there were not a lot of people walking around the area. (Record on Appeal [R.], pp. 12-17).

The last time they drove the truck down Evans Street, someone yelled “why y’all keep driving by,” and when Caleb’s stepfather stopped to tell the person why they were driving around, they heard a gunshot. Caleb was hit on the face, scalp and chest. He jumped out of the truck, and his brother pulled him through the window into the cab of the truck. They immediately drove home to wash the blood off Caleb, and then drove to the emergency room. (R., pp, 16-18).

At the emergency room, the doctors used tweezers to pull one of the pellets out of Caleb’s chest. Caleb was then taken to Spartanburg Memorial Hospital by ambulance, where he had surgery to remove more of the pellets from his body. He testified he was shot in the cheek, right above his eye, on his eye, his right ear, and his little finger. He was also shot twice in the lower abdomen, and twice in the chest area. (R., pp.18-20).

¹Caleb was eleven years old at the time of trial, so he was approximately 9 years old when the shooting occurred on May 9, 2017.

Victim 2 (“Austin”) testified he was Caleb’s brother, and he was riding in the truck cab with their step-father when the shooting occurred. They were driving the truck around the neighborhood on May 9, 2017, because they had been working on the truck, and thought it might have some bad gas in it that needed to be run off. The last time they drove down Evans Street, a woman called out asking why they were driving around. Austin’s stepfather yelled they were working on the truck and started to go back to the house in reverse when they heard a gunshot. Austin saw Caleb jump out of the truck bed, noticed Caleb was bleeding, and pulled Caleb through the window into the truck cab. He stated there was no other traffic on the street, and the only people he saw on the street were the woman who yelled at them from her porch and a man walking down the road right before they got to Evans Street, but he never saw anyone with a gun. (R., pp. 33).

Sierra McKinney testified she had known Petitioner since 2012, and he lived on Evans Street, right behind her sister’s house.² On the evening of May 9, 2017, McKinney was visiting her sister and brother-in-law, and they were sitting outside on the porch. They noticed a truck driving around the block multiple times, which was not ordinary because the streets were not well traveled. (R., pp.36-40).

McKinney saw Petitioner, who looked “aggravated,” and worried about the truck because he thought the people in it might be trying to start trouble. At one point, Petitioner put some broken bricks in the street and walked past McKinney’s sister’s house carrying a “long gun.” Shortly after Petitioner walked past the house, McKinney heard a “loud boom” from the

²Petitioner’s house faced Evans Street and McKinney’s sister’s house faced Rita Street, but the way the houses sat on the streets, Petitioner’s house was behind and to the side of the sister’s house. (R., pp. 37-39).

direction Petitioner was walking. McKinney never saw anyone else with a gun that night and testified she did not see who fired the shot. (R., pp. 39-44).

Christa Hall testified Petitioner lived behind her sister's house, and she was visiting her sister the evening of May 9, 2017. They were sitting on the porch when they saw a truck driving around the block multiple times. She stated they were curious about what was going on, but they learned "they was just testing their truck." (R., pp. 62-63).

Hall saw Petitioner that night while the truck was driving around, and he looked "jittery, nervous, sweaty." She testified Petitioner was nervous about the truck and kept asking Hall and the others sitting on the porch "who are these people." He then threw some broken brick pieces across the road, but "not a big pile." When Petitioner went to get the bricks, he came back with a long barreled gun. When the truck came back around, Petitioner "took off running behind my sister's house," carrying the gun, and seconds later, Hall heard a gunshot. She did not see who shot the gun, but Petitioner was the only person she saw with a gun that night. (R., pp. 63-77).

Deputy Billy Anthony, a crime scene investigator with the Cherokee County Sheriff's Office, testified he was called to the scene of a shooting incident on Evans Street in Gaffney the night of May 9, 2017. He performed a gunshot residue test on Petitioner at the scene. Officers also conducted a search for the gun but did not find it. After reviewing photographs of Caleb taken at the hospital, Deputy Anthony testified Caleb's wounds were consistent with birdshot from a shotgun, which is generally a long gun. (R., pp 78-89).

Dr. Keith Webb was qualified as an expert in pediatric surgery, and testified he conducted surgery on Caleb to remove multiple projectiles from his body which were consistent with a shotgun injury. There were eighteen projectiles in Caleb's body, located in the head, neck

and face regions, but Dr. Webb was only able to remove ten and the remaining eight projectiles remain in Caleb's body. (R., pp. 100-107).

Agent Megan Fletcher of the State Law Enforcement Division testified she analyzed the gunshot residue kit from Petitioner's hand submitted by Deputy Anthony in connection with the May 9, 2017, shooting incident. Her analysis revealed one particle that was "characteristic of gunshot primer residue. She testified she could not identify the type of gun the residue came from, or how it got on Petitioner's hand. (R., pp. 109-130).

After the State rested its case, Petitioner moved for a directed verdict on the attempted murder indictments on the ground the State presented "no evidence" Petitioner had "the specific intent to murder or kill anybody in this situation." The circuit court denied the motion, finding "[t]here is a question of fact as to what his criminal intent was," which "is a question for the finders of fact." (R., pp. 133-135).

The jury found Petitioner not guilty on the attempted murder charges, but guilty of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN) and possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime as to Caleb, and guilty of assault and battery in the first degree as to Austin and the stepfather. (R., pp. 136-138). The circuit court sentenced Petitioner to twenty years incarceration on the ABHAN conviction, five years concurrent on the possession conviction, and five years consecutive on each of the two assault and battery in the first degree convictions. (R., pp. 145-146). This appeal followed.

By unpublished opinion filed June 9, 2021, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentences, finding Petitioner failed to preserve the issue he raised on appeal because he argued a different issue before the circuit court. State v. Williams, Op. No. 2021-UP-204 (Ct. App., filed June 9, 2021). By Order filed June 29, 2021, the Court of Appeals

denied Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing. On July 29, 2021, Petitioner filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals, seeking review of the Court of Appeals opinion.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly found Petitioner failed to preserve any issue related to the sufficiency of the State's circumstantial evidence regarding the shooter's identity.

Petitioner contends the Court of Appeals erred in finding he failed to preserve the issue regarding sufficiency of evidence that he was the “shooter,” arguing the mere fact he made a directed verdict motion was sufficient to preserve the issue. Petitioner’s argument ignores well-established issue preservation law and is meritless on its face.

A. Issue Preservation

In order to be preserved for appellate review, an issue must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, and issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal. State v. King, 424 S.C. 188, 818 S.E.2d 204, 209-210 (2018). While the party does not need to use the exact name of a legal doctrine in order to preserve it, it must be clear the argument has been presented **on that ground**, and the issue must have been raised with **sufficient specificity** to bring into focus the **precise** nature of the alleged error so it can be reasonably understood by the court. State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003); State v. Daise, 421 S.C. 442, 807 S.E.2d 710, 714 (Ct. App. 2017); State v. Passmore, 363 S.C. 568, 611 S.E.2d 273, 281 (Ct. App. 2005). Further, a party may not argue one ground before the trial court, and argue a different ground on appeal. State v. Byram, 326 S.C. 107, 485 S.E.2d 360, 363 (1997).

At trial, Petitioner moved for a directed verdict as follows:

At this time the defendant would move for a directed verdict regarding the indictment he’s currently before the court. The basis for the defendant’s motion is the fact that there was **no evidence presented by the State that showed the defendant had the specific intent to murder or kill anybody in this situation.**

You know, even when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, there was no testimony regarding injuries to Douglas Rising. This is no - - he didn't even testify in the case, wasn't even present for the trial.

There is no information regarding injuries to (REDACTED) resulting from this incident.

And particularly there was **no evidence from the State that Mr. Williams ever intended to kill (REDACTED)**.

So the defendant's motion for directed verdict is based on the fact even once you look at the evidence they have presented, there is **no evidence that he had the specific intent to commit the murder of those three individuals**.

(R., p. 133) (emphasis added). In denying the motion, the circuit court stated:

The court does not weigh the evidence. The court considers whether there is any evidence, and the court denies the motion for **directed verdict on all three of the attempted murders**. There is a question of fact as to **what his criminal intent was**. That, as we know, is a question for the finders of fact.

(R., p. 135) (emphasis added).

Thus, according to the record, the **only** basis for Petitioner's directed verdict motion went **only** to the attempted murder charges, and **only** to whether there was evidence of specific intent to kill, and that was the **only** issue on which the circuit court ruled. Petitioner **never** moved for directed verdict on the ground the State failed to present sufficient circumstantial evidence to prove Petitioner was the shooter. Indeed, the directed verdict motion **as stated** essentially conceded Petitioner was the shooter, but he did not have the required specific intent to kill necessary to prove attempted murder.

The jury acquitted Petitioner on the attempted murder charges. Having prevailed on the attempted murder charges, however, on appeal Petitioner asserts a completely different basis for his directed verdict motion than the one he argued in the circuit court. In an effort to distract from his failure to raise in the circuit court the issue of whether there was sufficient evidence he was the shooter, Petitioner discusses cases in which this Court found a directed verdict was

warranted because there was insufficient evidence the accused was **involved** in the crime. Issue preservation was not an issue before the appellate courts in the cited cases, and the appellate courts' discussion of the evidence in those cases is absolutely irrelevant to this case. Obviously, arguing a person did not have the required specific intent to kill is not the same as arguing the person was not even involved in the crime.

In essence, Petitioner argues the mere fact he made a directed verdict necessarily encompassed **any** possible grounds, even those he failed to present to the circuit court for a ruling. This argument flies in the face of well-established law regarding issue preservation, and in accordance with that law, the Court of Appeals properly concluded the issue Petitioner raised on appeal was not preserved for appellate review.³ Accordingly, the Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals should be denied.

³As set forth in the Final Brief of Respondent, even if the ground Petitioner now asserts as a basis for his directed verdict motion was preserved, it fails on the merits. (FBOR, pp. 9-10).

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully submits the Court of Appeals' decision in this case was proper, and the Petition for Writ of Certiorari seeking review of that decision should be denied.